

This draft does not constitute an official AAPD health oral policy or clinical guideline until approval by the General Assembly. Circulation is limited to AAPD members.

Policy on Model Dental Benefits for Infants, Children, Adolescents, and Individuals with Special Health Care Needs

Originating Councils

Council on Dental Benefit Programs/Council on Clinical Affairs

Review Council

Council on Clinical Affairs

Adopted

2008

Revised

2013, 2017

Purpose

The American Academy of Pediatric Dentistry (**AAPD**) believes that all infants, children, adolescents, and individuals with special health care needs must have access to comprehensive preventive and therapeutic oral health care benefits that contribute to their optimal health and well-being. This policy is intended to assist policy makers, third-party payors, and consumer groups/benefits purchasers to make informed decisions about the appropriateness of oral health care services for these patient populations.

Methods

This policy is based upon a review of AAPD's systematically-developed oral health policies and clinical practice guidelines as well as clinical practice guidelines that have been developed by other professional organizations and endorsed by the AAPD.

Background

The AAPD, in accordance with its vision and mission, advocates optimal oral health and health care for all infants, children, adolescents, and individuals with special health care needs. Oral diseases are progressive and cumulative; ignoring oral health problems can lead to needless pain and suffering, infection, loss of function, increased health care costs, and life-long consequences in educational, social, and occupational environments.

This draft does not constitute an official AAPD health oral policy or clinical guideline until approval by the General Assembly. Circulation is limited to AAPD members.

A dental benefit plan should be actuarially sound and fiscally capable of delivering plan benefits without suppressing utilization rates or the delivery of services. When a benefits plan, whether for a commercial or government program, is not actuarially sound and adequately underwritten, access and appropriate care under the plan are placed at risk. When oral health care is not accessible, the health implications, effects on quality of life, and societal costs are enormous.¹

The AAPD's oral health policies and clinical guidelines² encourage the highest possible level of care to children and patients with special health care needs. The AAPD also sponsors a national consensus conference or symposium each year on pediatric oral health care and ~~publishes~~ those proceedings are published in a special issue of *Pediatric Dentistry*. Those documents,²⁻⁸ as well as clinical practice guidelines from other organizations with recognized professional expertise and stature,⁷⁻¹⁶ serve as the basis for the recommendations below. ~~Such r~~ Recommendations ideally are evidence based but, in the absence of conclusive evidence, may rely on expert opinion and clinical observations.

Policy statement

The AAPD encourages all policy makers and third party payors to consult the AAPD in the development of benefit plans that best serve the oral health interests of infants, children, adolescents, and individuals with special health care needs. These model services are predicated on establishment of a dental home, defined as the ongoing relationship between the dentist (i.e., the primary oral health care provider) and the patient, inclusive of all aspects of oral health care, starting no later than 12 months of age.¹⁷ ~~A dental benefit plan should be actuarially sound and fiscally capable of delivering plan benefits without suppressing utilization rates or the delivery of services. When a benefits plan, whether for a commercial or government program, is not actuarially sound and adequately underwritten, access and appropriate care under the plan are placed at risk.~~

Value of services is an important consideration, and AAPD encourages all stakeholders ~~should to~~ recognize that a least expensive treatment is not necessarily the most beneficial or cost effective plan in the long term for the patient's oral health.

The following services are essential components in health benefit plans.

A. Preventive services:

1. Initial and periodic ~~examinations of the dentition and oral cavity~~ orofacial examination, including medical, ~~and dental and social~~ histories, furnished in accordance with the attached

This draft does not constitute an official AAPD health oral policy or clinical guideline until approval by the General Assembly. Circulation is limited to AAPD members.

periodicity schedule² or when oral screenings by other health care providers indicate a risk of caries or other dental or oral disease.

2. Education for the patient and the patient's family on measures that promote oral health as part of initial and periodic well-child assessment.

3. Age-appropriate anticipatory guidance and counseling on non-nutritive habits, injury prevention, and tobacco use/ substance abuse.

4. Application of topical fluoride at a frequency based upon caries risk factors.

5. Prescription of a high concentration fluoridated toothpaste for patients over six years old who are moderate to high caries risk.

6. Prescription of dietary fluoride supplement¹⁸ based upon a child's age and caries risk as well as fluoride level of the water supply or supplies and other sources of dietary fluoride.

67. Application of pit and fissure sealants on primary and permanent teeth based on caries risk factors, not patient age¹⁹.

78. Dental prophylactic services at a frequency based on caries and periodontal risk factors.

B. Diagnostic procedures consistent with guidelines developed by organizations with recognized professional expertise and stature, including radiographs in accordance with recommendations by the American Academy of Oral and Maxillofacial Radiology (AAOMR), U.S. Food and Drug Administration and the American Dental Association.^{11,16,20}

C. Restorative and endodontic services to relieve pain, resolve infection, restore teeth, and maintain dental function and oral health. This would include interim therapeutic restorations, a beneficial provisional technique in contemporary pediatric restorative dentistry.²

D. Orthodontic services including space maintenance and services to diagnose, prevent, intercept, and treat malocclusions, including management of children with cleft lip or palate and/or congenital or developmental defects. These services include, but are not limited to, initial appliance construction and replacement of appliances as the child grows.

E. Dental and oral surgery including sedation/general anesthesia and related medical services performed in an office, hospital, or ambulatory surgical care setting.

F. Periodontal services to ~~resolve~~ manage gingivitis, periodontitis, and other periodontal diseases or

This draft does not constitute an official AAPD health oral policy or clinical guideline until approval by the General Assembly. Circulation is limited to AAPD members.

conditions in children.

G. Prosthodontic services, including implants with restorations to restore oral function.

H. Diagnostic and therapeutic services related to the acute and long-term management of orofacial trauma. When the injury involves a primary tooth, benefits should cover complications for the developing succedaneous tooth. When the injury involves a permanent tooth, benefits should cover long-term complications to the involved and adjacent or opposing teeth.

I. Drug prescription for preventive services, relief of pain, or treatment of infection or other conditions within the dentist's scope of practice.

J. Medically necessary services for preventive and therapeutic care in patients with medical, physical, or behavioral conditions. These services include, but are not limited to, the care of hospitalized patients, sedation, and general anesthesia in outpatient or inpatient hospital facilities.

K. Behavior guidance services necessary for the provision of optimal therapeutic and preventive oral care to patients with medical, physical, or behavioral conditions. These services may include both pharmacologic and non-pharmacologic management techniques.

L. Consultative services provided by a pediatric dentist ~~when the dental home has been established with a general practitioner or~~ when requested by a general practitioner or another dental specialist or medical care provider.

References

1. US Dept of Health and Human Services. Oral health in America: A report of the Surgeon General–Executive summary. Rockville, Md: US Dept of Health and Human Services, National Institute of Dental and Craniofacial Research, National Institutes of Health; 2000. Available at: ~~“http://www2.nidcr.nih.gov/sgr/execsumm.htm”~~“http://nidcr.nih.gov/DataStatistics/SurgeonGeneral/Report/ExecutiveSummary.htm”. Accessed ~~April 3, 2008~~ December 4, 2016. (Archived by WebCite® at: http://www.webcitation.org/6mW8vDmtm).

2. American Academy of Pediatric Dentistry. Reference Manual. Pediatric Dentistry Supplement. Chicago, Ill. Available at: "<http://www.aapd.org/policies>". Accessed ~~March 25, 2013~~ December 4, 2016. (Archived by WebCite® at: "<http://www.webcitation.org/6mW4znzKG>").
3. American Academy of Pediatric Dentistry. Pediatric dentistry restorative consensus conference. *Pediatr Dent* ~~2002;24(5):374-516~~2015; 37(2): 98-170.
4. American Academy of Pediatric Dentistry Symposium on behavior guidance *Pediatr Dent* ~~2004;26(2):110-83~~2014 36(2):98-160.
5. American Academy of Pediatric Dentistry. Symposium on the prevention of oral disease in children and adolescents. *Pediatr Dent* 2006;28(2):96-198.
6. American Academy of Pediatric Dentistry, American Association of Endodontists. Proceedings of the Joint Symposium on Emerging Science in Pulp Therapy: New Insights into Dilemmas and Controversies. November 2-3, 2007. Chicago, Ill. *Pediatr Dent* 2008;30(3):190-267.
7. American Academy of Pediatric Dentistry. Symposium on trauma. November 14-15, 2008, Chicago, Ill. *Pediatr Dent* 2009;31(2):94-163.
8. American Academy of Pediatric Dentistry, American Association of Endodontists. Proceedings of the Joint Symposium: Contemporary Management of Traumatic Injuries to the Permanent Dentition. November, 2012, Scottsdale, Az. *Pediatr Dent* 2013;35(2):102-90, 198.
9. American Association of Endodontists. Guide to Clinical Endodontics. ~~5th~~6th ed. Chicago, Ill. American Association of Endodontists; 2013. Available at: "<http://www.dev.aae.org/clinicalguide>". "<http://www.aae.org/clinical-resources/aae-guide-to-clinical-endodontics.aspx>". Accessed ~~March 25, 2013~~December 4, 2016. (Archived by WebCite® at: "<http://www.webcitation.org/6mW6Mb23m>").
10. American Academy of Periodontology. Periodontal diseases of children and adolescents. *J Periodontol* 2003; 74:1696-704.
11. American Dental Association, US Dept of Health and Human Services. Dental Radiographic Examinations: Recommendations for Patient Selection and Limiting Radiation Exposure. Revised: 2012. Available at: "http://www.ada.org/sections/professionalResources/pdfs/Dental_Radiographic_Examinations_2012.pdf". "http://www.ada.org/~media/ADA/Publications/ADA%20News/Files/Dental_Radiographic_Examinations_2012.pdf?la=en". Accessed ~~July 8, 2013~~December 4, 2016. (Archived by WebCite® at: "<http://www.webcitation.org/6mW7ppEuF>").

12. American Cleft Palate-Craniofacial Association. Parameters for evaluation and treatment of patients with cleft lip/palate or other craniofacial anomalies. Chapel Hill, NC: The Maternal and Child Health Bureau, Title V, Social Security Act, Health Resources and Services Administration, US Public Health Service, DHHS; November 2009. Grant # MCJ-425074. Available at: ~~“http://www.acpa-cpf.org/uploads/site/ParameterRev_2009.pdf”~~ [“http://www.acpa-cpf.org/uploads/site/Parameters_Rev_2009.pdf”](http://www.acpa-cpf.org/uploads/site/Parameters_Rev_2009.pdf) Accessed ~~March 25, 2013.~~ December 4, 2016. (Archived by WebCite® at: [“http://www.webcitation.org/6mW6yJcBj”](http://www.webcitation.org/6mW6yJcBj)).
13. National Foundation for Ectodermal Dysplasias. Parameters of oral health care for individuals affected by ectodermal dysplasias. National Foundation for Ectodermal Dysplasias. Mascoutah, Ill. 2003. Revision ~~2007-2015~~. Available at: ~~“<http://nfed.org/uploads/parameters.pdf>”~~. [“https://www.nfed.org/learn/library/parameters-dental-health-care/”](https://www.nfed.org/learn/library/parameters-dental-health-care/) Accessed ~~July 3, 2013~~ Accessed December 4, 2016. (Archived by WebCite® at: [“http://www.webcitation.org/6mW8Wrq4U”](http://www.webcitation.org/6mW8Wrq4U)).
14. Rozier RG, Adair S, Graham F, et al. Evidence-based clinical recommendations on the prescription of dietary fluoride supplements for caries prevention: A report of the American Dental Association Council on Scientific Affairs. J Am Dent Assoc 2010;141(12):1480-9.
- ~~15. American Academy of Pediatrics Committee on Nutrition. Fluoride supplementation for children: Interim policy recommendations. Pediatrics 1995;95(5):777.~~
- ~~15. Clark MB, Slayton RL. Fluoride Use for Caries Prevention in the Primary Care Setting. Pediatrics 2014; 3(14): 626-33.~~
- ~~16. Casamassimo P, Holt K, eds. Bright Futures in Practice: Oral Health—Pocket Guide. Washington, DC: National Maternal and Child Oral Health Resource Center; 2004.~~
- ~~16. Carter L, Geist J, Scarfe WC, et. al. American Academy of Oral and Maxillofacial Radiology executive opinion statement on performing and interpreting diagnostic cone beam computed tomography. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol 2008; 106(4): 561-2.~~
- ~~17. Feigal RJ, Donly KJ. The use of pit and fissure sealants. Pediatr Dent 2006;28(2):143-50. Recommendations for Pediatric Oral Health Assessment, Preventive Services, and Anticipatory Guidance/Counseling~~
- ~~17. American Academy of Pediatric Dentistry. Definition of Dental Home. Pediatr Dent 2016;38(6): 12.~~
- ~~18. Clark MB, Slayton RL. Fluoride Use for Caries Prevention in the Primary Care Setting. Pediatrics 2014; 3(14): 626-33.~~

This draft does not constitute an official AAPD health oral policy or clinical guideline until approval by the General Assembly. Circulation is limited to AAPD members.

19. Crall JJ, Donley, KJ. Dental Sealants Guidelines Development 2002-2014. *Pediatr Dent* 2015; 37(2): 111-15.
20. American Academy of Pediatric Dentistry. Guideline on Prescribing Dental Radiographs for Infants, Children, Adolescents, and Persons with Special Health Care Needs. *Pediatr Dent* 2016;38(6):355-57.

Recommendations for Pediatric Oral Health Assessment, Preventive Services, and Anticipatory Guidance/Counseling

Since each child is unique, these recommendations are designed for the care of children who have no contributing medical conditions and are developing normally. These recommendations will need to be modified for children with special health care needs or if disease or trauma manifests variations from normal. The American Academy of Pediatric Dentistry (AAPD) emphasizes the importance of very early professional intervention and the continuity of care based on the individualized needs of the child. Refer to the text in the Guideline on Periodicity of Examination, Preventive Dental Services, Anticipatory Guidance, and Oral Treatment for Infants, Children, and Adolescents (http://www.aapd.org/media/Policies_Guidelines/G_Periodicity.pdf) for supporting information and references.

		6 TO 12 MONTHS	12 TO 24 MONTHS	AGE 2 TO 6 YEARS	6 TO 12 YEARS	12 YEARS AND OLDER
Clinical oral examination	1	•	•	•	•	•
Assess oral growth and development	2	•	•	•	•	•
Caries-risk assessment	3	•	•	•	•	•
Radiographic assessment	4	•	•	•	•	•
Prophylaxis and topical fluoride	3,4	•	•	•	•	•
Fluoride supplementation	5	•	•	•	•	•
Anticipatory guidance/counseling	6	•	•	•	•	•
Oral hygiene counseling	7	Parent	Parent	Patient/parent	Patient/parent	Patient
Dietary counseling	8	•	•	•	•	•
Injury prevention counseling	9	•	•	•	•	•
Counseling for	10	•	•	•	•	•

This draft does not constitute an official AAPD health oral policy or clinical guideline until approval by the General Assembly. Circulation is limited to AAPD members.

nonnutritive habits					
Counseling for	•	•	•		
speech/language					
development					
Assessment and			•	•	•
treatment of					
developing					
malocclusion					
Assessment for pit	11		•	•	•
and fissure sealants					
Substance abuse				•	•
counseling					
Counseling for				•	•
intraoral/perioral					
piercing					
Assessment and/or					•
removal of third					
molars					
Transition to adult					•
dental care					

213

214 1 First examination at the eruption of the first tooth and no later than 12 months. Repeat every six
215 months or as indicated by child's risk status/susceptibility to disease. Includes assessment of
216 pathology and injuries.

217 2 By clinical examination.

218 3 Must be repeated regularly and frequently to maximize effectiveness.

219 4 Timing, selection, and frequency determined by child's history, clinical findings, and
220 susceptibility to oral disease.

221 5 Consider when systemic fluoride exposure is suboptimal. Up to at least 16 years.

222 6 Appropriate discussion and counseling should be an integral part of each visit for care.

223 7 Initially, responsibility of parent; as child matures, jointly with parent; then, when indicated,
224 only child.

225 8 At every appointment; initially discuss appropriate feeding practices, then the role of refined
226 carbohydrates and frequency of snacking in caries development and childhood obesity.

227 9 Initially play objects, pacifiers, car seats; when learning to walk; then with sports and routine
228 playing, including the importance of mouthguards.

229 10 At first, discuss the need for additional sucking: digits vs pacifiers; then the need to wean from
230 the habit before malocclusion or skeletal dysplasia occurs. For school-aged children and
231 adolescent patients, counsel regarding any existing habits such as fingernail biting, clenching,
232 or bruxism.

233 11 For caries-susceptible primary molars, permanent molars, premolars, and anterior teeth with
234 deep pits and fissures; placed as soon as possible after eruption.

This draft does not constitute an official AAPD health oral policy or clinical guideline until approval by the General Assembly. Circulation is limited to AAPD members.